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All the UK radar stations ran from No. 60 Group, Leighton Buzzard, in March 1945. The circles mark Ashburton, Broadstairs, Cambridge, Boston Spa and other towns that were regional centres that would have taken over their sector if Leighton Buzzard were to be knocked out by enemy action.
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FOREWORD


The original intention of this book was to tell the local story of Leighton Buzzard and the part its people played in the Second World War, but research by members of the Leighton Buzzard and District Archaeological and Historical Society has revealed something far more dramatic, bringing together the strands of a vital secret war effort that enabled Britain to prevail – the town was the centre of a secret war machine without which the conflict would not have been won by the Allies.


One of the reasons this important history has never been recorded is that during the Cold War Leighton Buzzard continued to be a vital part of NATO’s secret communications system, serving as a listening post for the radio traffic of potentially hostile forces.


What the team of researchers discovered has surprised them – even those who have lived in the town all their lives. The two editors credited on the front of the book, myself and Edwin Herbert, are part of a much larger group. Delia Gleave in particular undertook exhaustive research and wrote up the story of the evacuees and the people who served in the armed forces, including those commemorated on the town’s war memorials. The team comprises Trudi Ball, Rita Barry, Paul Brown, Delia Gleave, Richard Hart, Edwin Herbert, Jill Jones and Elise Ward.


Among others whose information and memories are included are Patricia Griffin, Bill Marshall, Ludovic McCrae, Tony Pantling, Maggi Stannard, John Vickers and Raymond ‘Viv’ Willis. There are many sources listed in the select bibliography, but the English Heritage 2011 report on the RAF Stanbridge site and Leighton Buzzard Observer back issues have been particularly helpful. We also acknowledge the use of extracts for historical and educational research from the online archive of wartime memories contributed by members of the public and compiled by the BBC, which can be found at www.bbc.co.uk/ww2peopleswar.





Paul Brown


Chair, Leighton Buzzard and District Historical and Archaeological Society
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Department Electra House, which later became Special Operations 1, covert propaganda department of SOE in September 1941 and was given the job of preaching subversion









	

ENSA




	

Entertainments National Service Association (‘Every Night Something Awful’)









	

Gee




	

Navigational aid using ground transmitters and an airborne transmitter (G for Grid)









	

GCIU




	

Ground Control Interception Unit









	

HE




	

High Explosive









	

HQ




	

Headquarters









	

LBO




	

Leighton Buzzard Observer









	

LDV




	

Local Defence Volunteers (later the Home Guard)
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Metallic strips dropped to confuse enemy radar systems









	

WRNS




	

Women’s Royal Naval Service (the ‘Wrens’)









	

WVS




	

Women’s Voluntary Service for Air Raid Precautions (later part of Civil Defence)









	

YMCA




	

Young Men’s Christian Association














PART ONE



[image: images]


THE SECRET WAR


THAT SAVED BRITAIN
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THE SECRET WAR


Leighton Buzzard, a small market town in Bedfordshire, was the unlikely nerve centre of Britain during the Second World War. So top secret were its operations that no outsiders knew how important it was at the time. Seventy years later, the story of its role in saving the country and shortening the war has still not been told – until now. One of its nearby satellite stations, Bletchley Park, which housed the code-breaking operations of Station X, is justly famous; but the vital part played by RAF Leighton Buzzard is still unheralded. At the time it was described in Air Ministry minutes as ‘the nerve centre’ of telephone and teleprinter communications.


Codenamed ‘Q Central’, RAF Leighton Buzzard was kept in continuous operation twenty-four hours a day throughout the war by the RAF’s No. 26 (Signals) Group. According to the Air Ministry, it housed ‘the largest telephone exchange in the world’. Additionally, hundreds of teleprinters were tended by staff in underground bunkers connecting the base to every theatre of war.


It is really strange that the story has never been told. Aspects of it, the evolution of the intelligence services and the activities of agents dropped behind enemy lines have been covered in various books and memoirs, but the real story of Q Central and RAF No. 60 (Signals) Group, based in Leighton Buzzard, was so top secret that all record of their vital part in the war was snuffed out by the Official Secrets Act.


A whole series of clandestine operations providing intelligence, undermining German morale and sabotaging their war machine was set up around Leighton Buzzard. Within a 10-mile (16km) radius of Q Central were Bletchley Park, the ‘black propaganda’ studios at Milton Bryan, the Potsgrove transmitter, the recording studio at Wavendon Tower near Simpson, and the Country Headquarters (CHQ) of the Political Warfare Executive at Woburn Abbey, Cheddington, Little Horwood and Wing airfields, the Meteorological Office run by the Ministry of Defence at Dunstable, and sites at Wingrave, Aston Abbotts and Hockliffe used by the Czech government-in-exile. Within a 25-mile (40km) radius were RAF Tempsford, the RAF Fighter Command HQ at Bentley Priory near Stanmore, the Special Communication Units for agents at Hanslope Park, and the Signals Intelligence Unit (SIGINT) at RAF Chicksands. Incidentally, the last site still has a role in psychological warfare as the HQ of the Intelligence Corps and the home of the Defence Intelligence and Security Centre.


It was from the communications powerhouse at Q Central that the British war effort was coordinated. Every vital military landline in the country was routed through the base, which was also the centre for all wireless traffic for the armed forces. Largely because it was the home of Q Central, Leighton Buzzard was also the HQ of radar command for Britain, Europe and the Far East. RAF No. 60 (Signals) Group, as it was known, was located less than 2 miles (3km) from Q Central to ensure good communications with Fighter and Bomber Command in London and hundreds of radar stations around the coasts. These two command and control centres were essential to winning the Battle of Britain and subsequently directing bombers to strike at enemy targets in Europe and further afield.


Clandestine operations directed at undermining the German war machine took many forms. Leighton Buzzard was host to hundreds of the brightest scientists, radar experts and propaganda specialists. The ‘boffins’ included the codebreakers at Bletchley Park, some of whom were billeted in the town and cycled the 8 miles or so (13km) to work. False radio stations broadcast in German; leaflets, newspapers and forged German ration cards were dropped behind enemy lines; misleading radio signals were transmitted about non-existent troop movements; these and many more ingenious schemes were developed by units operating around the town. From the quiet countryside around Leighton Buzzard teams of specially selected and talented people, both civilian and military, established secret organisations for a new kind of warfare, called variously black, white and grey propaganda. Each part of this secret war operated on its own. Thousands of people were stationed in and around the town, all of whom had signed the Official Secrets Act.
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Distances and directions showing the central location of the communications centre of RAF Leighton Buzzard.





Abbreviations, clockwise from centre:
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A WAAF wireless operator turns a message into perforated Morse tape while her companion feeds it into a high-speed transmitter at Q Central in Leighton Buzzard. (© IWM CH10281)


There were those who doubted the value of some of their efforts at the time. Arthur ‘Bomber’ Harris, Commander-in-Chief of RAF Bomber Command 1942–45, was no fan of paper propaganda. He believed that its main effect was to equip the continent with toilet paper for five years. Dwight D. Eisenhower, a five-star general and later president of the United States, took the opposite view. He believed that it was an important contributing factor first in undermining the will of the enemy to resist and second in supporting the fighting morale of Britain’s potential allies in the occupied countries.


Some efforts were heroic but others seem laughable in retrospect. For example, an attempt was made with the support of MI5 to dilute the racial purity of the SS carrier pigeon service with lower-grade British pigeons. While this plan proved flawed, pigeons were a serious part of the war effort and a lifesaving asset to airmen. Some bomber crews took them on missions in case their planes were shot down or ditched on the way home. The pigeons were then released with the coordinates of the aircrew attached in a note. Many men owed their lives to these birds.


One of the extraordinary aspects of this secret war and the range of different units in the villages surrounding Leighton Buzzard was that no one was allowed to know what the next group was doing. They had no idea what was going on behind the barbed wire and would have been arrested had they asked or, worse, answered a question about it. Seventy years have had to pass before a fuller picture of what happened in this apparent backwater of the country has been pieced together.


Airfields opened locally for other purposes were convenient for black operations and the transport of secret agents. Wing airfield, only 3 miles (4.8km) from Leighton Buzzard, was a training base for bomber pilots; but it had a satellite airfield at Little Horwood close by, which also doubled as the HQ of two Special Communications Units (SCUs). They dropped radios, spies and ‘black propaganda’ specialists behind enemy lines to assist resistance in occupied countries.


MI5 and MI6 relied on Q Central for communications, as did the Radio Security Service, which recruited radio ‘hams’ to track down German spies by pinpointing radio transmissions. Having successfully dealt with all the German spies in this way, it turned its attention to other activities, including the manufacture of covert radio sets at Little Horwood for use by Allied agents in occupied countries.


The Czechoslovak government-in-exile was at the Abbey, in the nearby village of Aston Abbotts. They ran a Czech military intelligence service from a radio station in a farm at Hockliffe, close to Q Central, to keep in touch with the resistance at home. This unit planned operations throughout the war with the British Special Operations Executive (SOE) for which the Germans exacted terrible revenge on the Czech civilian population.


When the Americans joined the war, an airfield at Cheddington was handed over to them. This too joined the secret war with activities designed to demoralise the enemy. The US Eighth Air Force dropped a billion leaflets over enemy territory, as well as secret agents to help resistance activities.


Slightly further afield but also part of the operations surrounding Q Central was the most secret airfield of the war – RAF Tempsford. Designed by an illusionist to look like an abandoned site, it was in fact the home of two special duties squadrons whose job was the delivery and retrieval of agents in enemy-occupied Europe.


It is a national story embedded in a small non-military rural market town in Bedfordshire. So important was the secret work carried out locally that the few anti-aircraft guns in the area were ‘not allowed to fire at German planes unless there was a direct assault, since this would have indicated that there was something to hide in the countryside below’. Leighton Buzzard was extraordinarily lucky that the Germans never discovered what was happening because the town would have been obliterated. It was a far more important target than any industrial complex.


While it seems really strange that the story has never been told the truth is that until now it has been snuffed out by the Official Secrets Act. Looking back from this distance, it is curious that the wartime operations were so secret that the people working in them had no idea what was going on in other parts of the organisation or behind the barbed wire in the next town or village.


Meanwhile, during the conflict the town played its part in the war effort like everyone else, its inhabitants unaware of the vital secret work around them. Men and women went off to war, the town absorbed a tide of evacuees and thousands of RAF personnel, scientists, spies and propaganda experts flooded into the area.


The fact that the road to Q Central was cut off for several years and the whole vast complex placed under enormous sheets of camouflage to avoid enemy attack must have seemed normal in a war of a type no one had experienced before. Local inhabitants had no inkling that RAF Leighton Buzzard also had a vast underground emergency operations room for the Air Defence of Great Britain, should the centre at Stanmore in North London be put out of action.


The following chapters describe some of the activities that took place at and around Q Central. Much of the evidence was kept in secret archives that have gradually been released over the years. Large bundles of papers were burned at the end of the war, and many of those who took part in the activities followed instructions and never talked about what they had done. But plenty of traces remain for us to gain an insight into operations without which the war could not have been won.


An important part of the story is that of the town itself. Many of the town’s population of fighting age enlisted in the armed services. A large number of men from a local regiment were caught in the surrender of Singapore and suffered in Japanese Prisoner of War (POW) camps. Their story is also told in these pages.


This small country town had to play its part in other ways, for example taking thousands of evacuees from big cities including several schools. There were some tensions, but it is remarkable how they were all fitted in when all the properties of any size, and many smaller ones, were used to billet the thousands of people needed to run Q Central, Bletchley Park and other establishments. Dozens of Nissen huts were built on country house lawns to accommodate this influx.


The town was transformed by this influx of service personnel, more than half of them from the Women’s Auxiliary Air Force (WAAF). Most of the people involved worked incredibly long hours and consequently needed to live it up when off-duty. On some evenings there were as many as three dances going on simultaneously. For a sleepy market town with a pre-war population of about 8,000, it was a rude awakening.
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Q CENTRAL (RAF LEIGHTON BUZZARD)


– THE NERVE CENTRE OF THE BRITISH


WAR EFFORT


On 30 November and 1 December 1937, a wireless transmitter van roamed the countryside around Leighton Buzzard. Nearly two years, as it turned out, would elapse before war broke out, but the military and the government were preparing for a conflict many thought inevitable. The purpose of the exercise was to find a location for a remote reception station for radio traffic from across the world. Two large fields on the edge of Leighton Buzzard were chosen for the RAF’s central communications station. The location had the added advantage of being near the existing Post Office telephone cables that ran up the spine of the country.


Landlines were considered at the time to be a very secure means of communication, much more so than radio; cyphers were used for material sent over radio, but landlines were thought to be safe enough not to warrant encyphering. Leighton Buzzard, with access to both landlines and radio, became the hub of the country’s Defence Telecommunications Network, known as ‘Q’. Hence RAF Leighton Buzzard became ‘Q Central’.


The decision to make the town the communications centre for wartime Britain was to change the face of Leighton Buzzard, at that time a small market town with no military presence. This receiving station, originally designed for all international RAF radio signals, quite soon also housed the largest telephone exchange in the world, and became the route for army and navy radio traffic too. This turned RAF Leighton Buzzard into the secret communications hub of the British war effort. Army, navy and RAF units, as well as the secret services MI5, MI6 and MI8, all used its teleprinters and cyphers. Both Fighter Command and Bomber Command needed its signals to direct their operations.


According to Air Ministry minutes in the Public Record Office, RAF Leighton Buzzard (renamed RAF Stanbridge after the war) was vitally important to the war effort. The station contained ‘the nerve centre of practically the whole of the national landline teleprinter communications and a large part of the private speech telephone system’. The minutes indicated that if the station had been put out of action the whole telephone system in the country would have been affected.


The area chosen for the new station was on the edge of town in open fields still bearing the marks of the medieval ridge and furrow crop system, next to the Marley Tile Works, which later made very uncomfortable quarters for some of the service personnel. The site had an area of 109 acres (44 hectares) and was relatively flat, rising to its highest point on the eastern boundary at 375ft (115m) above sea level. The sand and clay pits already present saved a lot of excavation in creating bunkers to protect some of the vital communications.


Initially, fearing that RAF Leighton Buzzard would not be built in time for the outbreak of war, the military took over the vast basement of the Leighton Buzzard Corn Exchange in Lake Street. Hundreds of teleprinters were installed in readiness for the coming conflict while the ballroom and other function rooms continued in use upstairs.


This arrangement continued for most of the war – dances and a cinema with a seating capacity of 450 operating on the upper floors, while the war was being run from the basement. It was not until 1943 that these original teleprinters were moved to join hundreds of new ones in the ever-expanding bunkers at the main RAF station less than a mile (1.6km) away.


The transformation from fields to a top-secret establishment entirely covered in camouflage netting took a remarkably short time. What could not be concealed in the same way were eleven radio towers 90ft (27.4m) high. Another twenty-seven towers of the same size were added later. Fortunately, although a German reconnaissance aircraft spotted and photographed these masts, the interpreters of the images dismissed RAF Leighton Buzzard as just another routine radio station. It was a costly mistake for the German war effort.


So worried were the authorities that the camouflage would not deceive the enemy that a decoy station was constructed nearby, ‘a dummy block sufficiently close to the masts and sufficiently close to (RAF) Leighton Buzzard to deceive and take the attack’. A site was chosen only 500yd (460m) west of the actual station in the belief that bombers aiming at the decoy station would unlikely to be such poor shots that they would hit the real thing. Sound City Films were employed to create what was in effect a giant film set of main buildings and offices to be called ‘power stations’. In addition to these were dummy huts, roads, car parks, lodges, air raid shelters and fencing. The dummy road was built by removing the top soil to a depth of 4in (10cm), the soil being made to look like darkened concrete. The ‘road’ was boarded with a kerb that was straight and marked with chalk. To complete the deception thirty ‘old crocks’ were requisitioned to put into the dummy car park. Throughout the war a party of men maintained the decoy, repairing and repainting sections as required and living in a guard house for four constructed for the purpose.
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At 11.12 a.m. on 23 September 1940 a German reconnaissance plane of Aufklärungsgruppe 122 took a remarkably clear picture of the Q Central site, showing radio masts, searchlight and AA positions, and the ‘main building’ (which was in fact a decoy site). (© IWM HU66027)


The station itself was seen as vulnerable to air attack. Trenches were dug and Lewis guns mounted but there were no pillboxes, although at the time these were seen as the most effective form of defence. Two searchlights were set up in a field behind the Fox and Hounds (now the Flying Fox) on the A5 ‘Sheep Lane’ crossroads (now a roundabout), as well as two 3.7in anti-aircraft guns, one on the hill at Stanbridge near the old windmill and one on Billington Hill near the Church. However, as was the case at RAF Tempsford, the guns were ordered to fire only to counter a direct assault on the station, since their use would have shown the enemy that there was something significant to protect.


The Ministry of Home Security removed all enemy aliens within a radius of 5 miles (8km) of the station and an ‘unclimbable’ fence was erected around the entire perimeter. No description of what made this fence unclimbable exists but it was clear that security was strict. Only those with Air Ministry passes were allowed into Q Central and the road past the RAF station, between the waterworks and the road junction near the George and Dragon Inn, was closed to the public on 30 July 1940 under the Defence Regulations.


Residents, farmers and members of the public requiring access to carry on their legitimate business had to apply for special permits from the station’s Officer Commanding. The barriers were within the perimeter of the RAF site so the residential stretch at the western end remained accessible to everyone. In March 1945 the road was officially reopened, although it had been unofficially open to traffic for ‘some considerable time’ before that, according to the national archives.


As buildings were added to the complex the camouflage screen was continually extended. It was realised it would have been disastrous for the conduct of the war if Q Central had been disabled. To guard against this a rectangular building ‘Q Central Reserve’ was built in Leighton Buzzard on the south side of the High Street between the then telephone exchange and the Midland Bank (now the HSBC). It was a two-roomed, windowless concrete structure that had been refurbished and equipped with French-polished mahogany furniture. The set-up had the advantage that all the connections had their own battery power and calling was done by hand generator. Ray Parker, a 16-year-old apprentice at the Corn Exchange in 1943, had moved into Q Central in 1944, where he remained until 1954, points out that it was fortunate that Q Central Reserve never needed to be used in anger, as it was too small to have coped, with only a three-position magneto switchboard. The building was later converted by Jehovah’s Witnesses into their Kingdom Hall and is still in use today.
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Q Central Reserve building at the back of the HSBC bank in Leighton Buzzard High Street, now Kingdom Hall.


To keep this vital communications operation going was a major logistical headache – not least because of the need to find accommodation for all these people in a small town already packed with evacuees. There was, too, competition for space from the RAF’s No. 60 Group, which also had its HQ in Leighton Buzzard, and was also growing fast. Five miles (8km) away, Bletchley Park housing Station X was also pressed for billets; and many of its personnel found homes in the town. The station expanded faster than the huts could be erected and even the WAAF Officers’ Mess at Wing Lodge was temporarily appropriated as an interim measure.


The biggest problem was the airmen’s home in the Marley Tile Works next to the base, described with typical British understatement as ‘unsatisfactory’:
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Teleprinter messages came in by the mile twenty-four hours a day from all over the world and had to be turned back into plain language so they could be forwarded to the relevant department and acted on. The messages arriving at Q Central were graded for importance, ‘flash’ being the most urgent. (© IWM CH10298)





Ventilation and lighting are very poor, the sheds constitute a very vulnerable target and the general conditions of this sort of accommodation, although suitable as a temporary expedient, are quite unsuitable as permanent accommodation. There is no peace or privacy, since watchkeeping personnel and RAF Regiment and domestic staff are continually coming and going in this colossal barrack room. The tile-drying sheds consist of two large adjoining sheds. The former has few windows and the latter no windows but only a few lantern lights in the roof. A hot air plant installed for the purposes of drying the tiles provides a reasonably generous supply of warm ventilation, but, while this plant does maintain a tolerable standard of hygiene in the buildings, the general effect is stuffy and depressing. The sheds have a concrete floor, brick walls and open pitch roof and are structurally sound, although the circumstances in which 280 men might become casualties to a single large bomb cannot be viewed without apprehension. Running beneath the sleeping accommodation is a stagnant sewer which could be smelt within the sheds.





To solve the problem of lack of facilities, a new camp was planned to provide billets for fifty-seven WAAF officers, thirty-seven Non-Commissioned Officers (NCOs) and 956 other ranks on a field next to the tile works. There was also to be accommodation for twenty-five RAF officers, thirty junior NCOs and a further 138 airmen. The RAF Regiment, tasked with security and the defence of the base against enemy attack, had a force of eight officers, nine senior NCOs and 229 other ranks, who would also be in the new camp. Because of the lack of facilities for personnel of both sexes a large canteen was built for the Navy, Army and Air Force Institutes, better known as the NAAFI, and another just for WAAFs by the Young Women’s Christian Association.


Internal War Department memos say that the idea was to build new camps to allow previously requisitioned properties to be ‘released to Station X by whom they are urgently required’. The increasing importance of code breaking as the war progressed required the recruitment and housing of many more people. One of the problems the RAF encountered in building the Leighton Buzzard camp was that the site contained heaps of tiles. A check revealed approximately 351,000 tiles weighing a total of 620 tons, which had to be moved. Italian POWs were drafted in to provide the necessary labour but then sent away because of security fears.


There were many other buildings on-site. One housed the fifty-six GPO engineers essential to keep the teleprinters running. They needed a restroom, a workshop and stores. Another building used was the Leighton Buzzard Isolation Hospital. Apparently empty when war broke out, it was immediately taken over by the RAF as an ‘officers’ war room’, although what exactly that meant is not clear. The exact location of this site is not known today and it may have been invented as a cover story.


Because of RAF Leighton Buzzard’s importance a large quantity of spare equipment was stored on-site, for both its own use and the outstation’s. There was also a large stock of teleprinters and stationery which required dry and temperate storage. Nearby, and sometimes in the same buildings, were explosives and small arms, which caused considerable alarm when the RAF station was inspected. None of the storage facilities reached ‘regulation standard’.


In March 1944 a special inspection was carried out of ‘danger’ buildings and 4,300lb of explosives were found, of which a quarter were high explosives, the rest small arms ammunition and minor pyrotechnics, such as flares. Some of this was kept alongside other stores in an abandoned Nissen hut, a situation the RAF regarded as ‘highly unsatisfactory’. A special building was immediately constructed surrounded by a bank 12ft (3.6m) high and of ‘considerable thickness’ to shield the camp from the explosives store.





Q Central: The station grew fast throughout the conflict. After fifteen months of war a report was produced describing its work. As of 1 January 1941 it was already responsible for outstations at Dagnall, Buckinghamshire, Greenford in London, the airship base at Cardington in Bedfordshire and Met Office in Dunstable. Q Central itself was divided into seven sections, each dependent on the other.
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An RAF reconnaissance picture of Leighton Buzzard taken on 28 August 1940 and labelled ‘secret’. The radio masts are all that can be seen of RAF Leighton Buzzard; the buildings of Q Central are all hidden under camouflage, preventing them being detected from the air.


Section One had seventeen wireless receivers of various types with six sets of equipment for transmission and reception, working twenty-four hours seven days a week. They kept in continuous contact with military commands in Aden, India, Iraq, Egypt, Malta, Singapore, Australia and New Zealand.


In addition, the wireless networks kept in touch with Ottawa in Canada when technically possible, and tracked aircraft on overseas delivery flights. There was also a link with the Home Guard in Northern Ireland, and a four-hourly schedule to be maintained with Takoradi in West Africa. Until the collapse of France, Leighton Buzzard controlled the work of two mobile wireless stations for forces there and for British forces in Norway until their evacuation. A watch was also kept on all service frequencies in use to ensure accurate tuning of all local and overseas transmitters.





Section Two was the central telephone exchange. Direct lines were provided to the Air Ministry in all its locations, the Admiralty, the War Office and to various army and navy units, all RAF Home Command and Group HQ, and a number of RAF stations. In 1941 this required eight operators on duty for efficient running, though later in the war this number increased significantly. The station was eventually connected to all theatres of war, including the Far East.





Section Three was the Central Defence Teleprinter Network Exchange, which had twenty-seven positions and needed eight to twelve operators for efficient running, depending on the time of day. There was also direct communication with all the military HQ mentioned for the telephone exchange, plus the Meteorological Office at Dunstable and Signals Intelligence Unit at Chicksands. The section also acted as a switchboard for a number of the country’s secret services, including MI5 and MI6.


In November 1941 the War Office requested that Section C of MI8, the Radio Security Service based in Barnet, be connected to Q Central’s switchboard. The job of the radio operators working for the Radio Security Service, including amateur radio ‘hams’, was to intercept radio messages from German spies operating in Britain and transmissions from their contacts on the continent. So successful were they that, as far as we know, all the German agents were either ‘turned’ and used to feed their Nazi controllers false information or imprisoned. The Radio Security Service was claimed by various branches of the intelligence services: it had been set up by MI5 at the beginning of the war and became Section C of MI8 before being taken over in 1941 by MI6 as its Section VIII under Brigadier (later Sir) Richard Gambier-Parry. It finally became one of the Special Communication Units (SCUs) based at Hanslope Park in north Buckinghamshire, still under Gambier-Parry, where its work was extended to manufacturing covert radio sets at Little Horwood for Allied agents in the field. This work is described later. Section Three remained the main receiving and transmitting station for the radio traffic of MI5 and MI6, the home and foreign intelligence services throughout the war.





Section Four was the Central Teleprinter Section. The teleprinter switchboard installed at Leighton Buzzard was the first of its type. The central function of its twenty-three teleprinters was to send messages to multiple addresses. It also handled signal traffic between home and overseas commands. Nineteen machines were in use by 26 February 1941, one of which was for Station X, the radio station part of Bletchley Park. By December that year a further circuit had been installed, for the use of MI5 and MI6 tasked with intercepting German-encrypted radio traffic, which was sent to Station X for decoding.





Section Five was Transit Control, an operation designed to simultaneously regulate the radio traffic and confuse the enemy. Its Code and Cypher Section operated a 24-hour watch, while its Security Section loaded the radio channels with dummy messages to create false peaks in traffic to confuse the enemy. Transit Control ensured the whole system operated efficiently.





Sections Six and Seven were the nuts and bolts of the operation. Section Six was operated by the General Post Office and was responsible for backup generators, batteries and the maintenance of all teleprinter and telephone exchanges. Section Seven encompassed the mechanics responsible for the maintenance of all wireless and aerial equipment.
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On 4 February 1940 the Central Forecast Office of the Meteorological Office was moved out of central London to the west of Dunstable (now Norman Way and Bunhill Close). It became the centre of a complex network, in partnership with the RAF ‘Y’ station at Chicksands Priory, that sent weather reports to the Allied military forces and to the BBC. From 1941 onwards Chicksands also served as an intercept station, picking up German traffic and sending this to Bletchley Park for decoding. The station also sent warning messages to the French Resistance immediately prior to D-Day and helped track Hitler’s mighty battleships, the Bismarck, sunk in 1941, and the Tirpitz, sunk in 1944.





By July 1939 an underground standby Emergency Operations Room had also been built in case the main Fighter Command HQ at Bentley Priory near Stanmore in Middlesex was put out of action. In the event it was never required, and was used instead to train WAAFs as plotters for Bentley Priory.
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The Met Office based in Dunstable, close to Q Central, was key to predicting a calm weather window to launch the ‘D’ Day invasion. Meteorological reconnaissance aircraft and ship’s reports were received by radio and WAAF and RAF operators took them down on typewriters. The forecast was updated every thirty minutes. (© IWM CH15748)


The WAAFs attending the plotting courses were accommodated in the old Workhouse in Grovebury Road, Leighton Buzzard. Joyce Deane, who joined the WAAFs in 1940 as a Clerk Special Duties, describes the experience:





We lived in a workhouse on the first floor, access by an outside iron staircase and slept in a dormitory. The ablutions were primitive – a line of sinks with small lead bowls chained to the wall; lavatory doors didn’t shut. We marched to a large building to train. The whole building was covered with camouflage netting. We learnt to plot on a replica of Fighter Command plotting table and were not allowed to stray; everywhere was secret.
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Molly Ellerton, née Matthews, another trainee plotter at Leighton Buzzard, wrote the following poem, now at the Imperial War Museum:





The thrill of going on duty in the middle of the night,


Then months of plotting air raids in the ops room underground,


The excitement of the news when a lost aircraft had been found;


When the bombers crossed the ocean and the ‘target was in sight!’





She describes life in the WAAFs during the war as good but admitted she had two distinct advantages: she had been to boarding school for four years just before the war and she was young and resilient.


The RAF station needed more and more people to remain fully operational. Large numbers of personnel, more than half of them WAAFs, worked exhausting shifts keeping the station running at full capacity twenty-four hours a day, 365 days a year.


At its peak, the telecommunications network comprised over 12,000 individual telegraph circuits, 562 terminal stations and 10,000 teleprinters. In early 1940 RAF Leighton Buzzard handled 3,000 phone messages daily; by 1944 this had risen to 5,000 messages, plus 30,000 teletype calls. By 1945 10,000 messages a day were being printed on ‘chadless (non-perforated) tape’, the volume so great that a conveyor belt was installed to transport them to a central distribution point.


The teleprinter switchboard of twenty-seven positions linked the centre with Bletchley Park, the Dunstable Meteorological Office, RAF command centres and Chicksands. The network was based mainly on Multi-Channel Voice Frequency, using amplified telephone-type circuits.


Ray Parker remembers the flight sergeant in charge of the WAAFs working on the telephone switchboard ‘as a lady who wouldn’t stand any nonsense from the girls but who was regarded by them as a kindly mother figure’. Doreen Luke, who worked at Stanbridge for a short period, recalled a comfortable atmosphere on watch, although she is quoted in Stephen Bunker’s Spy Capital of Europe describing the work as ‘very tiring and exacting’.


The filter room, as it was known, was used for training plotters until 1943, when No. 26 (Signals) Group took it over to house the teleprinters relocated from the Leighton Buzzard Corn Exchange. A much larger space was required for the teleprinters than even the enormous Corn Exchange could provide. This was because of the vastly increasing daily volume of traffic to direct Bomber Command and the air cover required after D-Day when the Allied Expeditionary Air Force was protecting troops in France.


Because so much that occurred at RAF Leighton Buzzard was top secret, the purpose and contents of some of the buildings shown on contemporary plans of the site are no longer known. To complicate matters, 60 Group, based at Oxendon House, was sometimes styled RAF Oxendon to hide its true identity. After the war the new occupants of Oxendon House, a flying training group, decided they did not like this name and called themselves RAF Leighton Buzzard. As a result, a number of the ‘official’ photographs from Leighton Buzzard still carry misleading captions in the Imperial War Museum files. We have corrected the captions for this history.


The seriousness with which personnel took the Official Secrets Act is illustrated by a remark made by Joan Anne Williams (later Lady Llewellyn, OBE), one of the first women to volunteer for the WAAFs. After training as a codes and cypher officer, she was posted to Bentley Priory in 1940 and then a year later to Q Central. On promotion to squadron officer, she moved to the Air Ministry in London and accompanied Churchill on various trips as cypher officer, before returning to Q Central for her final wartime posting. Her obituary in the Daily Telegraph reports her describing to her son a nine-course ‘picnic’ she had attended with Churchill in Morocco. When her son said, ‘I’m not the slightest bit interested in what you had to eat, I want to know what Churchill said,’ she replied, ‘I couldn’t possibly tell the likes of you that.’
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Joan Anne Williams (later Lady Llewellyn).


After the war the names of Q Central and RAF Leighton Buzzard faded quietly into history and RAF Stanbridge, as it now was, was developed as the RAF Supply Central Control System. It became the organising centre for many of NATO’s supplies in Europe, housing a giant computer and controlling British military logistics worldwide. The station received the freedom of Leighton-Linslade in 1988 but in 2012 the service was outsourced to Boeing Defence UK and moved to a purpose-built centre in Milton Keynes. A single Spitfire from the Battle of Britain Memorial Flight flew over RAF Stanbridge on 21 June 2012 as the ensign was lowered for the last time.
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NO. 60 (SIGNALS) GROUP – RADAR’S PART IN WINNING THE WAR


‘I have no hesitation in saying that without No. 60 Group and Radar, the Battle of Britain, even the War itself, could not have been won,’ Fighter Command Chief - Air Marshal James Milne Robb





From the beginning of the war in 1939, through the Blitz and until Germany and Japan surrendered in 1945, Leighton Buzzard was the HQ of the organisation that ran Britain’s chain of radar stations. The remarkable story of what became RAF No. 60 (Signals) Group of Fighter Command is almost unknown to the people of the town and rarely mentioned even in official histories. It was so top secret that during, and even after the war, no one who had worked there was allowed to speak about what they had done.


Oxendon House, an Edwardian-style mansion in Plantation Road, was the nerve centre of radar operations for the Battle of Britain, D-Day and the campaigns in North Africa, the Middle East, Italy and Germany. No. 60 Group ran hundreds of its own radar stations and absorbed another hundred from the army and navy. From small beginnings the HQ trebled in size and kept on growing. Hundreds of people were trained and dispatched all over Britain, and then the world, to run radar stations, all taking their orders from Leighton Buzzard.
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The rarely seen insignia devised for No. 60 (Signals) Group RAF – the vigilance of radar’s all-seeing eye.


Radar HQ had moved to Leighton Buzzard in a ‘panic’ two days before war began, because the government feared radar’s then HQ on the Essex coast had been observed by German airships and would be bombed or even attacked by paratroopers. The staff originally took over a small mansion called Carlton Lodge nearby, but grew fast and requisitioned Oxendon House too. At first it was an uneasy mix of civilian scientists and RAF staff, but the work’s importance meant they were soon under military discipline.


No. 60 Group was formed on 23 March 1940 to control Range and Direction Finding (later called Radio Direction and ranging or radar) stations and other radio units. By mid-September 1942 its personnel had grown to 18,000 people. There were 786 RAF officers, 315 WAAF officers, ninety American officers, about 12,000 airmen, 5,000 WAAFs and the Women’s Royal Naval Service (WRNS) and 300 civilian ‘boffins’. Many of these people began their work in Leighton Buzzard before being posted to their radar stations; others never visited the place; but to all of them Oxendon House was HQ.
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The HQ staff of No. 60 Group on the lawn outside Carlton Lodge, Heath Road, includes many high-ranking officers. This is a rare picture both of this unit and of the house itself, which is now gone. It is a mock Tudor house built just before the First World War and was requisitioned for radar headquarters in 1939. When it proved too small the headquarters moved to nearby Oxendon House in Plantation Road, but the senior officers continued to use it as a mess and sleeping quarters. (RAF Museum, Hendon)


Extraordinarily, this vast organisation, so vital to the war effort, has been neglected by historians. There is no doubt that without No. 60 Group directing our fighters in the Battle of Britain the survival of the country would have been unlikely. Once that crisis was over, radar was developed to become an offensive weapon, guiding bombers and invasion fleets, and became instrumental to winning the war. The importance of Oxendon House can be favourably compared with nearby Bletchley Park. The cracking of the Enigma Code at Bletchley Park is rightly credited with shortening the war, but without No. 60 Group, and the men and women who invented, improved and then ran the radar stations from Leighton Buzzard, the war might well have been lost already.


The commanders of our air forces were in no doubt about the value of No. 60 Group. Air Marshal James Robb, quoted at the beginning of this chapter, and in charge of Fighter Command, said that 5,000 enemy aircraft were shot down as a result of the information supplied by the radar stations run from Leighton Buzzard.


As for shortening the war, refinements to the radar technology allowed paths to be found through enemy defences and targets identified. Air Chief Marshal Sir Arthur Harris, Commander-in-Chief of Bomber Command, said: ‘Now that something of the immense part that has been played by Radar in winning the war has been made public, it is possible to acknowledge that without the work of 60 Group Bomber Command could not have brought its task to a successful conclusion.’ As Winston Churchill himself observed, ‘before radar we had to rely on the same equipment to observe incoming aircraft as stone-age man – sharp eyes and keen hearing.’


So how did all this come about and what exactly happened at Leighton Buzzard? The story begins as early as 1935, when the defence establishment knew that war was coming and that Britain should prepare. In particular, the Air Defence Committee of the Air Ministry recognised the threat posed by the expanding Luftwaffe. If war were declared there was no way of stopping this huge bomber force unless some means could be found to detect them before they reached our shores. A ‘boffin’, the RAF term for anyone who had any scientific role, was consulted. In this case the brilliant atmospheric scientist Robert Watson Watt was able to demonstrate that radio-echoes from aircraft could be analysed to indicate their range and direction of approach.


A small research team was formed and during 1936–39 the Air Ministry Research Establishment was set up at Bawdsey in Suffolk to develop the technology eventually known as radar. Watson Watt proposed a chain of radar stations along the southern and eastern coasts to detect incoming aircraft. An embryonic chain of five stations were ‘on air’ in time to track Neville Chamberlain’s plane when he went to negotiate with Hitler in September 1938. By April the following year there were already fifteen stations on 24-hour watch. They remained so for the next six and half years and were joined by hundreds of others. Only destruction by direct enemy air attack could put any of these stations out of commission for any length of time.


A month before war was declared the Graf Zeppelin, a giant German airship, was tracked flying up the coast on 2 August 1939. It was seen reconnoitring the base at Bawdsey and was later detected as far north as the Firth of Forth. It was partly as a result of this German spying mission that Leighton Buzzard’s part in all this began. Only two days before war was declared on 3 September 1939 a ‘panic plan’ was put into operation to relocate all the research facilities away from Bawdsey in anticipation of a direct German air or paratrooper attack. The civilian ‘boffins’ still developing the technology were to become part of the RAF. An HQ needed to be found where the scientists could continue their work and the RAF could run the national operation.


According to papers in the RAF Museum at Hendon, the original suggestion was to send everyone to Dundee – about as far from potential German enemy action as one could get. But Edward Fennessy, the man responsible for making the decision, had different ideas. Fennessy had joined the Air Ministry Research Establishment in 1938 and assisted Watson Watt in developing the ‘radio detection and ranging’ system that was later called ‘radar’. He also helped plan the network of coastal radar stations that would be vital to detecting and plotting the track of all incoming German bombers during the Battle of Britain.


In a brief history of No. 60 Group he wrote and deposited at the Hendon RAF Museum, Fennessy describes why he chose Leighton Buzzard for the organisation’s main HQ rather than Dundee, where some of the ‘boffins’ had relocated. In 1939 and 1940 his primary task was to help Fighter Command defend Britain against air attack. Fighter Command HQ was at Bentley Priory, a non-flying RAF station at Stanmore in North London. Dundee was too far from the people Fennessy needed to see at Stanmore. A base in Leighton Buzzard would be near to Stanmore and have the added advantage of being close to the central communications for RAF Q Central, which was already being built at Leighton Buzzard.


The first HQ for the radar network was Carlton Lodge on Heath Road, Leighton Buzzard, opposite Sandy Lane. Known as ‘Base Maintenance Headquarters’, it comprised a team of sixty-seven technicians responsible for running and maintaining all the radar stations in Britain. That house, occupied on 1 September 1939, two days before war was declared, only had seventeen rooms and soon became too small. The main HQ were moved to the larger Oxendon House in nearby Plantation Road, which also proved inadequate for the increasing numbers and a score of enormous huts were built in the grounds.


Fennessy wrote about his choice of Leighton Buzzard:





It was the home of RAF Central, the hub of all Royal Air Force Communications. All telephone plotting lines from the CH (radar) stations not only went to Bentley Priory Filter Room but were duplicated to RAF Central. Here an emergency Filter Room and Operations Room would take over in the event of the destruction of Bentley Priory. So by basing Base Maintenance Headquarters close to RAF Central we had first class communications to all CH stations. We were also close by road to the vital South and South East coast (radar) stations and only some forty minutes from Fighter Command with whom we needed close contact.





Fennessy says that throughout the winter of 1939 work continued from Carlton Lodge with civilian scientists and technicians developing the radar network. Because of the system’s dramatic growth and the thousands of staff now employed, a new military organisation was needed and security was vital. No. 60 Group was born. To show the importance of the unit, the chain of command was Commander-in-Chief Fighter Command, Air Chief Marshal Sir Hugh Dowding; the Director General of Signals, Air Vice-Marshal Charles William Nutting; and the on-site commander Air Commodore Arthur Leslie Gregory, a far more senior officer than would be expected at a normal RAF station, even one with several fighting squadrons.


The new unit took over Oxendon House, with civilians now in a minority and Air Commodore Gregory, supported by a large number of RAF officers, fully in command. The decision to change from a civilian to a military operation caused some conflict:
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